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CHAPTER IV 

LIFE OF BHĪṢMA AS DEPICTED IN THE 

MAHĀBHĀRATA 
IV.I Introduction 

Bhīṣma is one of the central and the most honoured characters of the 

Mahābhārata. He occupies a glorious position in the galaxy of the 

personages of the Mahābhārata. He is known for his supreme devotion 

towards the Lord. He was admired even by Lord Śrīkṛṣṇa. Bhīṣma was born 

as Devavrata and is the grandfather of the heroes and villains of the epic 

Mahābhārata. He gave up marriage and throne for his father’s sake. To the 

people of India he is the symbol of mature wisdom. 

Bhīṣma was a great Jñānī, a man of wisdom, and also a man of great 

renunciation (mahātyāgī). Śrī Rāma obeyed his father’s words only for 

fourteen years but Bhīṣma stuck to his father’s words for the rest of his 

entire life. By his great determination and strict observance of his vows, he 

got his name Bhīṣma.  

IV.II The Lineage of Bhīṣma 

The Mahābhārata describes how a king was born as Śāntanu on account of a 

curse and married to Gaṅgā and how the eight Vasus cursed by sage Vasiṣṭa 

were born as sons to Śāntanu and Gaṅgā. At the time of her marriage to 

Śāntanu, Gaṅgā had imposed a condition that Śāntanu should never interfere 

or obstruct her from doing anything she liked as a condition of marriage to 

him. She also warned Śāntanu that she would abandon him and go away, if 

he objects to her actions. Gaṅgā had promised the Vasus that she will throw 

them into the river the moment they were born, to free them from their curse 
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of having an earthly life. Gaṅgā threw into the river the seven children born 

to her, one after the other, as soon as they were born saying “I make you 

pleased”. The saddened Śāntanu did not obstruct Gaṅgā, though he was 

highly displeased. When Gaṅgā took her eighth son in her arms to throw him 

into the river as usual, Śāntanu could not bear the familiar sight. He shouted 

at his wife Gaṅgā and asked: “Who are you? Why are you killing your own 

children? Will you not spare this child at least?” Then Gaṅgā revealed her 

identity and the curse of Vasiṣṭa that required her to throw the seven of the 

eight sons, who were Vasus. She assured Śāntanu that the eighth son will be 

spared and that he would become a great person. It was this eighth son of the 

king Śāntanu and Gaṅgā who was named Devavrata and later on became 

famous as Bhīṣma. 

ÈÉâ ÐäwÑð ×ânÈÌÕí ½az½âÒâÑãÑÈYçãÈð ó 

ÕÖçÕäÒâôtÖÑÐÕnÑÚâÕäÒíô ÑÚâÒ×âð óó Mahābhārata, Ādiparva, 63-91 

×ânÈÌçð ¼Ôç ½az½âï Ðâ½äÓÉäÑçÍÒëÑë ÈsÒâ- 

ÑsÒ ÁÞë ÊëÕÕýÈí ÌâÑ ÒÑâÚçÐäôwÑãÑãÈ óó Ibid, 95.47 

ÈÉâRÍsÈÉâ¿âÓsÈÉâÕöùsÈÉâÙçÈð ó 

½âaz½ëÒsÈsÒ ÍçÝí;ÐènÌânÌâ ÊëÕÕýÈí ÕÖçð óó Ibid, 100.21 

He was a descendant of the well-known lineage of the Kurus. From amongst 

the gods known as the Vasus he was the eighth Vasu called Dyau who 

descended upon the earth in the form of Bhīṣma in consequence of the curse 

invoked by the great Ṛṣi Vasiṣṭa. Even as a boy he studied the Vedas 

alongwith their auxiliary sciences and also learnt the use of divine weapons 

through repeated practice. While practicing the use of weapons once he 

intercepted the flow of the Ganges with his arrows.  

He was strong in body and mind. His extraordinary powers and intellect 

were manifested even in his childhood. He was also called Śāntanava after 
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his father and Gāńgeya, Nadija after his mother (the river goddess). Mother 

Gaṅgā disappeared then with the child. She saw to it that her son was given 

the best education and training.  

IV.III Birth 

The legend behind Bhīṣma’s birth is as follows - once the eight Vasus 

(Aṣtavasus) visited Vaśiṣṭa’s ashram accompanied by their wives. One of the 

wives took a fancy to Nandini, Vaśiṣta’s wish-bearing cow and asked her 

husband Prabhāsa to steal it from Vaśiṣta. Prabhāsa then stole the cow with 

the help of the others who were all consequently cursed by Vaśiṣṭa to be 

born in the world of men. Upon the Vasus appealing to Vaśiṣṭa's mercy, the 

seven Vasus who had assisted in stealing Nandini had their curse mitigated 

such that they would be liberated from their human birth as soon as they 

were born; however, Prabhāsa being protagonist of the theft, was cursed to 

endure a longer life on the earth. The curse however is softened to the extent 

that he would be one of the most illustrious men of his time. It was this 

Prabhāsa who took birth as Devavrata (Bhīṣma). 

IV.IV Early life 

Bhīṣma was born as the youngest son of the illustrious king Śāntanu and 

Gaṅgā. As per the Mahābhārata, Śāntanu saw Gaṅgā on the banks of river 

Gaṅgā and enamoured by her beauty and asked her to marry him. She agreed 

but with the condition that Śāntanu would never question her, no matter 

what her actions - if he ever broke his promise, she would leave him, never 

to be a part of his life again. Śāntanu readily agreed to this seemingly 

harmless condition and was thus married to Gaṅgā. Eight children were born 

to this union, the eighth of which was Bhīṣma himself. The seven siblings 

born before him were drowned by their mother Gaṅgā in order to break their 

curse - as they were incarnations of the aforementioned Vasus, who do not 
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like to live the life of Humans. Śāntanu silently bore the torture of watching 

his wife drown his offspring seven times. However, when Gaṅgā was about 

to drown Bhīṣma, Śāntanu could no longer contain his anguish and burst 

into protest. Gaṅgā, aware of the eighth child’s destiny to live a long life on 

earth, did not drown the child. However, since Śāntanu had broken his 

promise given to her at marriage, she left Śāntanu promising to return the 

child to him once he is grown up. And goddess Gaṅgā disappeared. During 

his time with his mother, Bhīṣma learnt political science from Bṛhaspati, the 

guru of the Devas, Vedas and Vedāṅgas from the sage Vaśiṣṭa, and archery 

from Paraśurāma, also known as Bhārgava, thus becoming an exceptionally 

skilled administrator. 

But Śāntanu did not let his personal sorrow affect his duties as a king. He 

continued ruling wisely and well. And so the years passed. Then one day as 

Śāntanu came once again to the banks of the Ganges, hunting deer and 

observed that the flow of Ganges seemed to be subdued and restrained by 

the arrows. He walked few steps further and was amazed by seeing an 

extraordinary and godlike youth. 

Meanwhile Gaṅgā appeared and introduced to him with that child saying, 

“This is Gāṅgeya, the eighth son I bore you. He is unsurpassed in wisdom 

and the use of weapons. He has earned the title Devavrata. Take him home 

and make him your heir. 

áÁÑäÆí ÕÓsÈëØâï È*sÑnÕï×ð ÍýãÈ*wÄÈð ó 

ØÃzÍçÝânÖípÒÁÌÒâãùÖöØç sÝäØç ÐâÓÈ óó Ibid, 94.31 

He is a mighty archer and has learnt all there is to know about the duties of a 

king.” 

Òï ÍçÝÑwÃÑï ÓâÁïstÕï ÍçÓâ ÑyÒãÕnÊÉâð ó 
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Ö ¿âÒï ÍçrØvÒâ¾ý ÖÕâôsÝãÕÊÌçùÑð óó 

½öÚâÇëÑï ÑÚâÓâÁ ÑÒâ ÖïÕãËôÈï ÖçÈÑz ó 

áâÊâÒ ÍçrvÒâ¾ý ÌÒsÕìÌï ½öÚï ãÕÐí óó 

ÕëÊâÌãËÁ½ë Öâaz½ânÕãÖwÄâÊëØ ÕäÒôÕâÌz ó 

™ÈâsÝð ÍÓÑëwÕâÖí ÊëÕÓâÁÖÑí ÒçãË óó 

ÖçÓâÇâï ÖïÑÈí ãÌtÒÑÖçÓâÇâï ¿ ÐâÓÈ ó 

é×Ìâ ÕëÊÒcÀâsÝÑÒï È]ëÊ ÖÕô×ð óó 

ÈÉìÕâ*azz½ÓÖð ÍçÝð ÖçÓâÖçÓÌÑs™Èð ó 

Ò]ëÊ×âsÝï Èc¿âãÍ ™tsÌÑ*sÑnÍýãÈ*wÄÈÑz óó 

ÈÕ ÍçÝë ÑÚâÏâÚî Öâaz½íÍâaz½ï ÑÚâtÑãÌ ó 

±ãØð ÍÓìÓÌâËöwÒí ÁâÑÊgnÒð ÍýÈâÍÕâÌz óó 

ÒÊsÝï ÕëÊ ÓâÑ@ ÈÊëÈâ*sÑnÍýãÈ*wÄÈÑz ó 

ÑÚëwÕâÖãÑÑï ÓâÁnÓâÁËÑâôÉô»íãÕÊÑz óó 

ÑÒâ Êùï ãÌÁï ÍçÝï ÕäÓï ÕäÓ ½öÚï ÌÒ ó 

ÈÒìÕï ÖÑÌçÞâÈð ÍçÝÑâÊâÒ ×ânÈÌçð óó Ibid, 100.33 to 40 

And Gaṅgā vanished. Śāntanu took Devavrata and returned home joyfully. 

When they reached his palace, he summoned all his kinsmen, the Pauravas 

to him and declared that Devavrata should be the heir to his throne. The 

Pauravas looking upon the godlike youth admired him and accepted the 

king’s declaration. And hence he was coronated as prince. Devavrata soon 

earned the love and respect of people of Hastināpura. 

½çÇÕnÈï ÑÚâtÑâÌï ÒîÕÓâjÒë;BÒØë¿ÒÈz ó 

ÍîÓÕâ:cÀânÈÌíð ÍçÝð ãÍÈÓï ¿ ÑÚâÒ×âð óó Ibid, 100.43 

Then Śāntanu continued ruling the great Kuru kingdom with fraternal 
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solicitude with iron hands. His was the first kingdom in the Aryan land. His 

city Hastināpura was the first city in the Āryāvarta. He loved his people as 

his own children, and they loved him as their own father. He had only one 

son named Devavrata. He was a handsome prince, strong in body and mind, 

his extraordinary powers and intellect were manifested in his personality. 

The king was filled with joy. The whole Kuru kingdom was filled with the 

praises of his son. He thought of retiring from the world and of placing 

Devavrata on the throne. But his idea was changed by an incident which 

happened in one of his hunting excursions. 

He went to the banks of the Ganges and met Satyavatī – a fisherman’s 

daughter, extraordinarily beautiful and charming. The king fell deeply in 

love with her as soon as he saw her. He then approached her father and 

asked for his daughter’s hand in marriage. But the fisherman demanded 

something which the king could never give. He asked for a vow from him 

that his throne should be occupied by the offspring of this girl and none else. 

If the great king would agree, he would then give his daughter to him, 

otherwise not. This meant depriving prince Devavrata his just inheritance, in 

other words driving away his beloved son from the throne. The king could 

not do this. It was impossible for him to commit such a mistake. Therefore 

he returned home disappointed and broken-hearted. 

Why was such a poor and low man so proud of his daughter? There is a 

story attached to her as observed by J. N. Bose in the following words: “She 

had not been so beautiful and charming as she was then. Besides a foul 

nauseating smell of fish emanated from her body, she was named 

Matsyagandhā. But one day when the great sage Parāśara was crossing the 

Ganges, he saw this girl on an island and was so pleased with her as to take 

her to his embrace. By the great sage Parāśara’s grace, she at once became 

the most beautiful of all girls, and the fishy smell of her body disappeared. 
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He also blessed her and said that she would be the beloved queen of a great 

king and her sons and son’s sons will be great kings of the Āryāvarta. The 

sage went away, but a son was born to the girl on the island who afterwards 

became the greatest sage of the Āryan land. Because he was black he was 

called Kṛṣṇa, because he was born on an island, he was called Dvaipāyana, 

and because he compiled the Vedas, he was called Vyāsa. This son of 

fisherman’s daughter, who changed her name from Matsyagandhā to 

Satyavatī, wrote the great Mahābhārata. This was the reason why her father 

was so proud of her, and why he dared to refuse a great king and tried to 

extort a vow.”115 

But king Śāntanu was not the man to indulge his fancy or enjoy pleasure at 

the sacrifice of his own beloved son who is the joy and pride of his whole 

kingdom. This made Śāntanu despondent. He could not forget the beautiful 

Satyavatī. Love could not be easily suppressed. He struggled on with his 

heart and mind, and daily grew to be more and more melancholy, sad and 

sorrowful. He forgot all pleasure, his favourite games, hunting, sporting; he 

loved retirement and neglected his State- business. Daily he grew to be weak 

and thin. Devavrata marked his father’s change. He could not ask his father, 

although many a time he hinted at it. The king evasively answered him and 

sent him away on this or that pretext. 

But Devavrata loved his father as no son loved his own. He knew and felt 

that something had happened to his beloved father. He was not son who 

would sit quiet when his father was getting miserable. He began enquiring 

amongst his father’s courtiers. He went to an old minister who was devoted 

to his father. From him he came to learn his father’s secret. He said nothing 

to anybody. He went straight to the fisherman’s house and asked his 

daughter Satyavatī for his father. The fisherman repeated what he had said to 

the great king.  

                                                
115 Bose, J. N., Bhīṣma – His Life and Teachings, p. 17 
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IV.V Bhīṣma’s vow 

(Bhīṣma means He of the terrible oath, referring to his vow of life-long 

celibacy. Originally named Devavrata, he became known as Bhīṣma after he 

took the bhīṣaṇa pratijñā ('terrible oath') — the vow of life-long celibacy 

and of service to whoever sat on the throne of his father - the throne of 

Hastināpura).  

Devavrata promised him that he would never stake a claim to the throne, 

implying that the child born to Śāntanu and Satyavatī would become the 

ruler after Śāntanu, and in his words, “I am the only son of my father; I am 

the heir to the throne. I take a vow in the name of all that is holy and sacred 

that I renounce my entire claim to the throne of my sister, all my claim to the 

sovereignty of the Kuru kingdom, in favour of my brother or brother’s that 

will be born of your daughter, my step-mother.”  

#ÕÑëÈt»ãÓwÒâãÑ ÒÉâ tÕÑÌçÐâØÖë ó 

Òí;sÒâï ÁãÌwÒÈë ÍçÝð Ö Ìí ÓâÁâ ÐãÕwÒãÈ óó Ibid, 100.87 

At this, Satyavatī's father retorted that even if Devavrata gave up his claim to 

the throne, his (Devavrata's) children would still claim the throne. Devavrata 

then took the terrible vow of life-long celibacy saying that to make the 

succession of your daughter’s children certain and sure, I shall never marry 

or beget a son or a daughter, thus sacrificing his ‘crown-prince’ title and 

denying himself the pleasures of conjugal love.  

Êâ×ÓâÁ ãÌÏíËëÊï Õ¿Ìï Ñë ÌöÍíùÑð ó 

ÙöNÕÈâï ÐèãÑÍâÔâÌâï  ÒÊzÏýÕäãÑ ãÍÈçð ™Èë óó 

ÓâjÒï ÈâÕtÍèÕôÑëÕ ÑÒâ tÒøï ÌÓâãËÍâð ó 

áÍtÒÚëÈíÓãÍ ¿ »ãÓwÒë;Y ãÕãÌ@ÒÑz ó 
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áY ÍýÐöãÈ Ñë Êâ× Ïý¢¿Òõ ÐãÕwÒãÈ ó 

áÍçÝsÒâãÍ Ñë Ôí»â ÐãÕwÒntÒÜÒâ ãÊãÕ óó Ibid, 100.94 to 96 

The fisherman had nothing more to say. Hearing these words the gods 

showered flowers on him. It gave him immediate recognition among the 

gods and the sages who uttered the word ‘Bhīṣma’ meaning He of the 

terrible oath for him. This Bhīṣma then went to Satyavatī and requested her 

to ascend his chariot to go to Hastināpura. At Hastināpura Bhīṣma told father 

Śāntanu everything and placed her before him. His father granted him the 

boon of icchāmaraṇa (control over his own death - he could choose the time 

of his death, but he was not immortal).  

ÈcÀ÷çtÕâ Êçw»Óï »Ñô ™Èï ÐäwÑëÇ ×ânÈÌçð ó 

sÕcÀnÊÑÓÇï ÈçwÃî ÊÊî ÈsÑì ÑÚâtÑÌë óó Ibid, 100.102 

What Bhīṣma was and became can be easily guessed from the noble 

sacrifices that he made for his beloved father. A young prince of his age, a 

young man of twenty, sacrificed willingly and gladly all his prospect, all his 

hopes, all his pleasures, his inheritance, his sovereignty over the biggest of 

Āryan kingdom’s , is hardly to be found depicted in any of the literatures of 

the world. He not only sacrificed all this, but vowed to be ever true, faithful, 

and friendly to the children of his step-mother whom he himself brought for 

his father and made her his great queen. Everybody cannot be this, and 

perhaps none but Bhīṣma could do it.  

Śāntanu married Satyavatī. Bhīṣma also took another vow shortly after the 

marriage of Śāntanu and Satyavatī. He vowed that he would see his father’s 

image in whoever sit on the throne of Hastināpura and would serve him 

without question. This vow ended up being the main cause of his problems 

later on when his nephew Dhṛtarāṣtra took the throne and wished to make 

his own son, Duryodhana the crown prince instead of Dhṛtarāṣtra's brother 
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Pāṇḍu’s son Yudhiṣṭira who was the elder to Duryodhana (and reckoned by 

all to be the most worthy to become king). As a result Bhīṣma was forced to 

comply with all of Dhṛtarāṣtra's orders no matter what injustice was done to 

the Pāṇḍavas. 

In a few years his step-mother Satyavatī gave birth successively to two 

princes, the eldest son was named Citrāṅgada and the other Vicitravīrya. But 

his father was not destined to live long and enjoy his happiness. When the 

princes were but children, king Śāntanu breathed his last. Bhīṣma felt at his 

beloved and dear father’s death. But he had to forget his great bereavement, 

for his step-brothers were young and therefore could not assume the region 

of the great kingdom. He had to rule the country on their behalf and to bring 

them up suitably to the great position they were to assume when they would 

be of age. 

He loved them more than himself; he gave them the highest possible 

training, and made them the greatest heroes of the age. But Citrāṅgada was 

unfortunately killed when he went to give battle to an enemy who dared to 

attack the Kuru kingdom. He arranged for the performance of his last 

ceremony.  

È*sÑnÍçrØ×âÊèôÔë ãÌÚÈë ÐèãÓÈëÁãÖ ó 

ÐäwÑð ×ânÈÌÕí ÓâÁâ ÍýëÈ»âÒâôNÒ»âÓÒÈz óó Ibid, 101.11 

After his untimely death, Bhīṣma placed his brother Vicitravīrya on the 

throne. He then looked about for a princess to make her his queen. At this 

time the king of Kāśī was celebrating the Savyaṁvara of his three beautiful 

daughters named Ambā, Ambikā and Ambālikā. The whole of the Āryan 

land heard their charms and beauty; they were known to be best and the 

most beautiful princesses in all Āryāvarta. Therefore Bhīṣma made up his 

mind to make them his young brother’s queens. When he arrived at the 



 153 

 
 
 
 

Svayaṁvara, he found all the great and powerful kings and princes of the 

Āryan land from one end to the other had assembled there. But Bhīṣma 

ignoring their presence, ignoring the king of Kāśī and his powerful army, 

took the princesses into his chariot and addressed the kings and princes thus; 

“I forcibly take away these beautiful princesses whom I shall give in 

marriage to my heroic brother Vicitravīrya, who, as you all know, is the 

mighty king of the Kuru kingdom. A Kṣatriya prince has this right; therefore 

I take the princesses away if anybody dares to fight with me – come, I stand 

prepared.” A great battle was fought, but there was none who could stand 

before the great hero of the Kuru race. 

ÐäwÑsÈÊâsÕÒï »nÒâ ÕÓÒâÑâÖ Èâð ÍýÐçð ó 

éÕâ¿ ¿ ÑÚäÍâÔânÓâÁ:ÁÔÊãÌð¼Ìð óó 

ÓÉÑâÓípÒ Èâð »nÒâ ÐäwÑð ÍýÚÓÈâï ÕÓð ó 

áâÚèÒ ÊâÌï »nÒâÌâï ½çÇÕÊzÐÒð sÑöÈï ÏçËìð óó Ibid, 102.11 to 58 

After defeating them all, Bhīṣma triumphantly carried away the Kāśī 

princesses to his city of Hastināpura. There with great pomp and grandeur 

the two sisters viz. Ambikā and Ambālikā were married to king Vicitravīrya 

of the vast Kuru kingdom. 

áÔï™tÒ ÒÉâ×*ø ÍýÊâÒ ¿ ËÌânÒãÍ ó 

ÍýÒcÀntÒÍÓë »nÒâ ãÑÉçÌëÌ ½ÕâÑãÍ óó 

ãÕùëÌ »ãÉÈëÌânÒë ÏÔëÌânÒë;ÌçÑânÒ ¿ ó 

ÍýÑùâÑçÍÒntÒnÒë sÕÒÑnÒë ¿ ãÕnÊÈë óó 

áâØõ ãÕãËï ÍçÓs™tÒ ÊâÓâãÕnÊãÈ ¿âÍÓë ó 

áwÄÑï ÈÑÉí ãÕù ãÕÕâÚï »ãÕãÐÕôùÑz óó Ibid, 102.13 to 15 

But he too was not destined to live long. Just after his marriage he died. 
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Bhīṣma arranged for the performance of the last ceremony. 

ÓâÞí ãÕã¿ÝÕäÒôsÒ ÖtÒÕtÒâ ÑÈë *sÉÈð ó 

°*tÕ*gÐð ÖãÚÈí ÐäwÑð ÖÕìô@ »çrÍçaz½Õìð óó Ibid, 102.73 

This way the great Kuru dynasty was at the point of extinction. There was no 

other prince to perpetuate the line. There was Bhīṣma, but he was precluded 

from marrying by his great and noble vow. 

When Satyavatī recovered a little from her great sorrow at the bereavement 

for the untimely death of her two sons, she requested, entreated and 

beseeched Bhīṣma to marry and to beget children. 

ÈÒírtÍâÊÒâÍtÒï ÖïÈâÌâÒ »çÔsÒ Ìð ó 

Ñ*nÌÒí½ânÑÚâÏâÚí ËÑõ »ÈçôãÑÚâÚôãÖ óó 

ÓâjÒë ¿ìÕâãÐãØcÒsÕ ÐâÓÈâÌÌç×âãË ¿ ó 

ÊâÓâï@ »çr ËÑëôÇ Ñâ ãÌÑjÁäð ãÍÈâÑÚâÌz óó Ibid, 103.10 to 11 

But Bhīṣma sorrowfully told his step-mother that to break a solemn vow for 

a Kṣatriya was worse than death. He declared that he would not give up truth 

at any cost and would not marry and would not have any relation with 

women. 

ÈÉícÒÑâÌí ÑâÝâ Ö Öç_ÊzãÐ@ ÍÓïÈÍð ó 

åtÒçÕâ¿âÉ ËÑâôtÑâ ËmÒôÑëÕíùÓï Õ¿ð óó 

áÖï×Òï ÍÓí ËÑôstÕÒâ ÑâÈrÊâ_Èð ó 

tÕÑÍtÒï ÍýãÈ ¿ Ñë ÍýãÈÞâï ÕëtÉ Õì ÍÓâÑz óóó 

ÁâÌâãÖ ¿ ÒÉâÕöùï ×çl»ÚëÈístÕÊnÈÓë ó 

Ö ÖtÒÕãÈ ÖtÒï Èë ÍýãÈÁâÌâmÒÚï ÍçÌð óó 

ÍãÓtÒÁëÒï ÝìÔíkÒï ÓâjÒï ÊëÕëØç Õâ ÍçÌð ó 
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Ò]â;pÒãË»ÑëÈâBÒâï Ì Èç ÖtÒï »Éï¿Ì óó 

tÒÁëc¿ ÍöãÉÕä ½nËÑâÍ@ ÓÖÑâtÑÌð ó 

jÒíãÈsÈÉâ tÒÁë¨Íï ÕâÒçð sÍ×ô½çÇï tÒÁëÈz óó 

ÍýÐâï ÖÑçtÖöÁëÊ»íô ËèÑ»ëÈçsÈÉíwÑÈâÑz ó 

tÒÁëcÀbÊï ÈÉâ»â×ï ÖíÑð ×äÈâï×çÈâï tÒÁëÈz óó 

ãÕ®Ñï ÕöÝÚâ Á[â}Ñõ Á[âc¿ ËÑôÓâÃz ó 

Ì tÕÚï ÖtÒÑçtÖýwÃïç vÒÕÖëÒï »Éï¿Ì óó Ibid, 103.12 to 18 

At this stage Bhīṣma reminded her of the birth of her son on the island 

before her marriage, the son who was begotten by Parāśara and the son who 

was now the great world-renowned sage Vyāsa. 

#Õï ãÌðÜãÝÒë Ôí»ë ™Èë ÈëÌ ÑÚãØôÇâ ó 

ÈÈð ÖïÐèÒ ÖÕâôãÐð ÜãÝÒâãÐð ÖÑnÈÈð óó 

étÍâãÊÈânÒÍtÒâãÌ Ïýâ¢ÇìÕëôÊÍâÓ½ìð ó 

ÍâãÇ½ýâÚsÒ ÈÌÒ åãÈ ÕëÊëØç ãÌã@ÈÑz óó 

ËÑõ ÑÌãÖ ÖïsÉâpÒ Ïýâ¢ÇâïsÈâð ÖÑBÒÒçð ó 

Ôí»ë;pÒâ¿ãÓÈí dwÃð ÜãÝÒâÇâï ÍçÌÐôÕð óó 

ÈÈð ÍçÌð ÖÑçãÊÈï ÜÝï ÖÑÐÕùÊâ ó 

åÑï ¿ìÕâÝ ÕxÒë;ÚãÑãÈÚâÖï ÍçÓâÈÌÑz óó Ibid, 104.5 to 8 

Hence Satyavatī called her son Vyāsa to Hastināpura and induced him to 

save the dynasty of the Kuru Kings. Vyāsa begot two sons on the widows of 

King Vicitravīrya and one other son on a hand-maiden of the widowed 

queens. 

Á½âÑ ÑìÉçÌâÒìÕ ÑÑÈâï ¿ârÔí¿ÌâÑz ó 

×ç®ítÖ½õ ÈÈí Ïç}â ÈsÒâ ½Ðô½Èí ÑçãÌð óó 
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Í}ÒÑâÓíËÒnÑâ½õ ×ç®sÒ ¿ ÏöÚsÍÈëð ó 

sÉâÌÑÍýâpÈÑÉ ÈcÀçøï ÍýãÈÚÈï ÈÊâ óó Ibid, 104.18 to 19 

The eldest was named Dhṛtarāṣṭra, who unfortunately became blind, the 

other was named Pāṇḍu, because it was said he was born pale. The son of 

the maid was called Vidura. 

Thus Bhīṣma, though he renounced his claim for the throne, though he 

vowed never to marry, yet he had all along to rule the kingdom and bring up 

the children. He had to do this when his father died leaving his two brothers 

mere children. And then again, they two died early, and he had to rear up his 

brother’s children as begotten by the great sage Vyāsa. For years and years 

together, he was a father to them and had to rule the Kuru kingdom on their 

behalf. From his father’s death till his nephew’s sons grew to be young 

princes, he was the mighty ruler of the Kurus, a ruler who was the beloved 

of all, a ruler who stood towering over all the kings of the Aryan Land. The 

kingdom was adorned with hundreds of sacrificial stakes virtuously ruled by 

Bhīṣma. The wheel of virtue having been set by him, the country became so 

delightful that the subjects of other kingdoms, leaving their homes, came to 

dwell in the Kuru kingdom and increase its population. 

When the three princes grew up and became handsome, powerful, virtuous 

and learned men, Bhīṣma thought of marrying them to beautiful young 

princesses. He, having heard the beauty and virtue of Gāndhārī, the daughter 

of Suvala, the king of Gāndhāra, modern Kandahāra, sent a messenger to the 

king proposing marriage of his daughter with the eldest of the Kuru prince, 

Dhṛtarāṣtra. 

He gave his virtuous daughter to Dhṛtarāṣtra. The ever chaste princess 

Gāndhārī, learning that her future husband was blind, bandaged her own 

eyes with cloth and this she kept till her death. There was no other example 
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of a wife of such devotion to her husband in any of the literature of the 

world. When Dhṛtarāṣtra was married, Bhīṣma arranged the marriage of the 

second prince Pāṇḍu. This prince got his first wife, Pṛthā by name, large 

eyed daughter of Kuntībhoja. King Kuntībhoja solemnized the marriage in 

great pomp and presented his son-in-law with much wealth. But great 

Bhīṣma set his heart on marrying his beloved nephew Pāṇḍu to the sister of 

the king of Madra, who was then one of the most powerful monarchs 

amongst all the Aryan monarchs. He went to the capital of the king of Madra 

and asked for the hand of her in marriage with Pāṇḍu. 

Èâï Èç ÈëÁ*sÕÌäï »nÒâï RÍÒîÕÌ×âãÔÌäÑz ó 

vÒâÕöNÕnÍâãÉôÕâñ »ëã¿ÊÈäÕ sÝä½çÇìÒçôÈâÑz óó 

ÈÈð Öâ »ç*nÈÐíÁëÌ ÓâÞâÚèÒ ÌÓâãËÍâÌz ó 

ãÍÝâ sÕÒïÕÓë Êùâ ÊçãÚÈâ ÓâÁÖùÑð óó 

ÈÈð Öâ Óaz½ÑDÒsÉï ÈëØâï ÓâÞâï ÑÌ*sÕÌä ó 

ÊÊ×ô ÓâÁ×âÊèôÔï ÍâNÅçï ÐÓÈÖùÑÑz óó 

ãÖïÚÊÍõ ÑÚíÓs»ï ÕöØÐâÜï ÑÚâÏÔÑz ó 

áâãÊtÒãÑÕ ÖÕëôØâï ÓâÞâï ÍýcÀâÒ Õì ÍýÐâð óó 

ãÈwÄnÈï ÓâÁÖãÑÈî ÍçÓïÊÓãÑÕâÍÓÑz ó 

Èï dwÃzÕâ ÖâÌÕYâaz½ä »ç*nÈÐíÁÖçÈâ ×çÐâ óó 

ÍâNÅçÑ ÌÓÕÓï Óaz½ë _ÊÒëÌâ»çÔâÐÕÈz ó 

ÈÈð »âÑÍÓäÈâaz½ä Ö™tÍý¿ÔÑâÌÖâ óó Ibid, 112.2 to 7 

Then mighty ruler of Madra willingly accepted the proposal and gave her 

away to him. He brought away the beautiful Mādrī princess to Hastināpura, 

and on auspicious day and moment the marriage ceremony was performed in 

great pomp and grandeur. Then he brought the daughter of king Devaka to 
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Hastināpura and arranged marriage of her with Vidura. 

áÉ ÍâÓÖÕäï »nÒâï ÊëÕ»sÒ ÑÚäÍÈëð ó 

RÍÒîÕÌÖïÍnÌâï Ö ×çÙâÕâÍ½âÖçÈð óó 

ÈÈsÈç ÕÓãÒtÕâ ÈâÑâÌäÒ ÐÓÈØôÐð ó 

ãÕÕâÚï »âÓÒâÑâÖ ãÕÊçÓsÒ ÑÚâÑÈëð óó Ibid, 114.12 to 13 

Bhīṣma was ruling the vast Kuru kingdom since his father’s death. Now his 

nephews had become in every way fit to ascend the throne and to assume the 

sovereignty in their own hand. Therefore at the first opportunity, he retired 

and made room for his nephews. But a difficulty arose. The eldest prince 

Dhṛtarāṣtra was blind, and therefore could not ascend the throne. Bhīṣma 

called both of them before him and explained matter. Dhṛtarāṣtra gladly 

gave his younger brother, prince Pāṇḍu, permission to assume the 

sovereignty of the Kuru race, and Pāṇḍu too agreed  to rule the country with 

his elder brother’s permission, guidance and control. Then the good and 

mighty Bhīṣma on an auspicious day placed Pāṇḍu, with all solemn and 

proper ceremonies and in much pomp and grandeur, on the ancient throne of 

the vast mighty and prosperous Kuru kingdom. King Pāṇḍu began well. He 

followed the footsteps of his wise and mighty uncle. But Pāṇḍu was not able 

to pull long with his brother. Notwithstanding the presence of the wise and 

good Bhīṣma, evidently two brothers disagreed, and Pāṇḍu determined to 

renounce his kingdom and to leave Hastināpura. No one could change his 

mind. With his two young wives, Kuntī and Mādrī, and with a few retainers, 

he left for ever his ancestor’s kingdom and went away to the Himālayas, 

where he lived till he died. Thus Bhīṣma was obliged to take up the reign of 

the Kuru kingdom, as Dhṛtarāṣtra was blind. Vidura also helped him much. 

He had to rule the country for another twenty or twenty-five years till the 

eldest son of Dhṛtarāṣtra became a mighty young prince. 
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Then Gāndhārī, the wife of Dhṛtarāṣtra, gave birth to one hundred sons and a 

daughter. The eldest was Duryodhana. For years together the Kurus had no 

news of their beloved king Pāṇḍu or of his two queens. But many years 

after, Kuntī returned to Hasināpura with five young princes, the eldest being 

some years older than Duryodhana, and the second being of his same age. 

She said that the three elder ones were born of her, and the two younger 

ones, who were twins, were the sons of Mādrī. King Pāṇḍu was dead and 

Mādrī had ascended the funeral pyre of her husband. She, therefore, had 

returned to Hastināpura with the five Pāṇḍu princes who were respectively 

named Yudhiṣṭhira, Bhīma, Arjuna, Nakula and Sahadeva. Bhīṣma 

welcomed the young princes as his own beloved grandsons. The wise and 

learned Vidura supported him and all the Kurus were therefore silent. 

Dhṛtarāṣtra did not express his consent and willingly or unwillingly received 

them as his own sons. They were affectionately brought up by Bhīṣma and 

Vidura. Bhīṣma searched for an appropriate teacher for the training of these 

princes. 

Then he placed them under the tuition of Kṛpa and then that of venerable 

Droṇa.116 

»èÍâÓâÑÖÐâÕâpÒí Ïýâ¢ÇâÕÖÉâsÈÉâ ó 

ÏÐèÕçð ÖÕôãËôÒçÈâsÈ*sÑÌz ÓâwÃ÷ë ÖÊítÖÕâð óó 

ÐäwÑëÇ ËÑôÈí ÓâÁnÖÕôÈð ÍãÓÓãÜÈë ó 

ÏÐèÕ ÓÑÇäÒ@ ¿ìtÒÒèÍ×Èâ*az»Èð óó 

Ö Êë×ð ÍÓÓâwÃ÷âãÇ ãÕÑöjÒâãÐÍýÕãËôÈð ó 

ÐäwÑëÇ ãÕãÚÈï ÓâwÃ÷ë ËÑô¿®ÑÕÈôÈ óó 

ã®ÒÑâÇëØç ™tÕëØç »çÑâÓâÇâï ÑÚâtÑÌâÑz ó 

ÍîÓÁâÌÍÊâð ÖÕëô ÏÐèÕçð ÍÓÑítÖç»âð óó 

                                                
116 Mahābhārata, Ādiparva, 130-77 to 79 
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½öÚëØç »çrÑçKÒâÌâï ÍîÓâÇâï ¿ ÌÓâãËÍ ó 

ÊäÒÈâï ÐçjÒÈâï ¿ëãÈ Õâ¿í;ÙèÒnÈ ÖÕô×ð óó 

ËöÈÓâwÃ÷@ ÍâNÅç@ ãÕÊçÓ@ ÑÚâÑãÈð ó 

ÁnÑÍýÐöãÈ ÐäwÑëÇ ÍçÝÕtÍãÓÍâãÔÈâð óó 

Öïs»âÓìð Öïs™ÈâsÈë Èç ÕýÈâDÒÒÌÖïÒçÈâð ó 

ÙÑvÒâÒâÑ»ç×Ôâð ÖÑÍYnÈ ÒîÕÌÑz óó Ibid, 109.12 to 18 

Thus they grew up to the great joy of the people of Hastināpura, to whom 

Pāṇḍu was very much beloved, till at last the Kuru princes with Duryodhana 

at their head became extremely jealous of them. They were born proud, 

malicious, jealous and vindictive, and Bhīṣma and Vidura could not make 

them good. By the advice of Vidura and at the dictate of great Bhīṣma, 

Dhṛtarāṣtra also attempted to guide his sons to virtuous path, but all was of 

no avail. Even Bhīṣma could do nothing. He was thrust aside. His words 

which were law and were like the words of the holy Vedas to entire Kuru 

race were now disregarded by the insolent and proud Kuru princes. He 

reproached them, reasoned with them, beseeched and entreated them, but 

they remained silent before him. They did not reply or argue with him, but 

avoided him as much as possible. Bhīṣma then determined to place 

Yudhiṣṭhira on the throne of the Kuru kingdom assuming that this ill feeling 

of Kauravas would disappear. The Kauravas would submit to the inevitable 

and would not create unnecessary mischief. But he was disappointed. The 

enmity between them grew bitterer than ever. 

Before placing good and virtuous Yudhiṣṭhira on the throne of his venerated 

ancestors, Bhīṣma asked Droṇācārya to test the excellence of his pupils in a 

great tournament. This was a policy of the greatly wise Bhīṣma. Amongst all 

the Kauravas and Pāṇḍavas, Arjuna alone won the trial. But before the end 

of the tournament, Karṇa entered and with due permissions he participated 
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and showed his unmatched and most difficult feats. Duryodhana, seeking in 

him an opportunity, gladly welcomed him and made him his close friend. 

The sudden appearance of Karṇa upset the wise policy of Bhīṣma. His 

reception and welcome by the wicked Duryodhana, and his virtually joining 

his wicked party made Duryodhana certain of success, and thus Bhīṣma was 

defeated in his noble and wise aim. But he did not give up all hope. He 

thought of another means and soon put it into practice. He was much pained 

by the bitterness that had grown among his grandsons, but could do nothing. 

In the last sixty or seventy years, from the day on which he took his great 

vow of celibacy and renunciation till now, he never repented it. But now by 

the misbehaviour of the wicked Kuru princes, especially of the proud, 

insolent and vicious Duryodhana, his mind was filled with sorrow. 

By the advice of the Kuru grandfather Bhīṣma, king Dhṛtarāṣtra in due form 

proclaimed the eldest Pāṇḍava Yudhiṣṭhira as the heir-apparent to the Kuru 

kingdom. This was the severest gall and warm wood to the wicked 

Duryodhana. He grew almost mad in anger and vexation. Daily the 

popularity of Yudhiṣṭhira and the Pāṇḍavas were growing. Their praises 

were sounding over the Kuru kingdom from end to end. The people defied 

the Kuru princes and spoke ill of them. He consulted secretly with his 

maternal uncle Śakunī, his friend Karṇa and his brother Duḥśāsana, and 

resolved to burn the five Pāṇḍavas to death. Duryodhana any how convinced 

his father to send Pāṇḍavas to Vāraṇāvata where they sent one wicked 

person who built there a house of lac. This house was intended for the 

Pāṇḍavas. Bhīṣma knew nothing of this infamous plot. Vidura came to know 

all about it. So he secretly made all proper arrangements, so that they might 

escape from that lac-house. Pāṇḍavas with their mother Kuntī reached there. 

One midnight, the wax palace was set on fire. The Pāṇḍavas and their 

mother Kuntī safely escaped towards the forest through the tunnel in the wax 

palace. The people of Vāraṇāvata sent a message to Hastināpura that the 
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Pāṇḍavas have been burnt to death in a fire which has reduced their palace to 

ashes. This news made Bhīṣma very sad. 

Kuntī and Pāṇḍavas disguised themselves as Brahmins and went from one 

place to another till; they arrived in the kingdom of Drupada. When 

Draupadī was of marriageable age, king Drupada held a Svayaṁvara. The 

Kauravas, Karṇa, Śiśupāla, Jarāsandha, Śrīkṛṣṇa and even Pāṇḍavas in the 

disguise of Brahmins were present at the Svayaṁvara. One by one, many 

kings and princes came forward to hit the eye of the fish. But none 

succeeded. Embarrassed and disappointed, they returned to their seats. At 

last Arjuna who was sitting among the Brahmins stood from his seat, picked 

up the bow, strung it, looked in the water, aimed at the target, shot an arrow 

and won the challenge and Draupadī both. Then she became the joint-wife of 

all five Pāṇḍavas.  The Pāṅcāla king’s pleasure knew no bounds when he 

learnt that his heart’s desire had been fulfilled, and that his beloved daughter 

had been married to the Pāṇḍu princes. He welcomed them with royal pomp 

and grandeur. This news soon reached Hastināpura. On knowing this the 

people roared with joy and loudly asked for their return. Pāṇḍavas were 

invited to the city Hastināpura. Bhīṣma advised Duryodhana to give 

Pāṇḍavas due share in the kingdom. On being asked by Yudhiṣṭhira, Bhīṣma 

declared to propitiate the initial Argha to the Lord Kṛṣṇa first. 

#Ø tYëØâï ÖÑsÈâÌâï ÈëÁíÏÔÍÓâ®Ñìð ó 

ÑDÒë ÈÍ*nÌÕâÐâãÈ jÒíãÈØâãÑÕ Ðâs»Óð óó 

áÖèÒôãÑÕ ÖèÒôëÇ ãÌÕâôÈãÑÕ ÕâÒçÌâ ó 

ÐâãÖÈï ¤âãÊÈï ¿ìÕ ™wÇëÌëÊï ÖÊí ãÚ Ìð óó Sabhāparva, 36.28 & 29 

But everybody did not approve of this proposal. The mighty king of Cedi 

and the celebrated king Śiśupāla took the lead of opposition. King Śiśupāla 

rose in anger and addressed Bhīṣma that when so many illustrious kings 
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were present there, then Kṛṣṇa by no means deserved to have a royal 

worship. He not only began to abuse the revered Bhīṣma in the strongest 

term, but he abused Kṛṣṇa at his heart’s consent. Having seen that assembly 

of kings agitated by anger Yudhiṣṭhira got tensed and asked Bhīṣma 

Pitāmaha that what should be done then. Bhīṣma Pitāmaha consoled him not 

to fear from any as he has already settled a way that is both beneficial and 

conforms to policy.  

Bhīṣma then turned towards the assembled kings and addressed them that 

the end of their words was not seen. As Kṛṣṇa being present, could be 

challenged by him who opposed. It would settle the matter without further 

ado. Roaring and foaming the wrathful Śiśupāla rose and challenged Lord 

Kṛṣṇa for fight. There was the fight, as the all-knowing Bhīṣma fore-

thought. And thus Śiśupāla was easily killed by great Kṛṣṇa. Then the other 

refractory monarchs were struck with awe and became silent. Then in due 

form, the great sacrifice was solemnised and the virtuous Yudhiṣṭhira 

became the king of all the kings of the Aryan Land. If great Bhīṣma were not 

there, it was quite evident that it would have been impossible for the 

Pāṇḍavas to perform the great Rājasūya sacrifice. Bhīṣma was the towering 

personality amongst all the kings of Āryāvarta. He stood at the head of all. 

He was all in all in all matters. 

The wealth, prosperity and magnificence of Yudhiṣṭhira made the wicked 

Duryodhana mad with jealousy. His great rival, to destroy whom he tried 

various diabolical means, had become the sovereign king of all the kings of 

the Aryan land, and he, the head of the great Kuru race, had now to play 

second fiddle in his own kingdom. He consulted his maternal uncle Śakunī 

and got advised to invite Yudhiṣṭhira and the other Pāṇḍavas to play the 

game of dice. Bhīṣma was not aware of this fact till the Pāṇḍavas arrived for 

the game. The reason was, he lived a very retired life and after giving half 
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the kingdom to the Pāṇḍavas, he thought Duryodhana and his brothers 

would allow them to live in peace. But such was not the case. Pāṇḍavas lost 

everything including Draupadī in that infamous game. Duryodhana insulted 

her by saying that she would join the serving women and would sweep the 

chambers. Duḥśāsana went into the inner apartment and dragged her into the 

public court. On being pressurized by Bhīṣma, Vidura, Droṇa and others, 

Dhṛtarāṣtra jumped in between and solved the matter by bestowing Draupadī 

with a boon for that cause and sent Pāṇḍavas to their kingdom with honour 

and dignity. 

But Duryodhana was not to be cheated of his victory. For the second time, 

he consulted his maternal uncle Śakunī and got advised to invite Yudhiṣṭhira 

and the other Pāṇḍavas to play the game of dice. This time the condition was 

that the looser will pass twelve years in a forest and a year more incognito. 

And if the condition was broken then again twelve years in a forest and a 

year more incognito. Pāṇḍavas again lost in the game of dice. Bhīṣma was 

helpless. Last time he made the blind king return all the wealth of the 

Pāṇḍavas which was won by deceit at play. But this time what he could, he 

did. He himself was a life-long celibate. He himself gave up all claim to his 

father’s kingdom. The reason was he gave his word to his step-mother’s 

fisherman father. How could he now ask Yudhiṣṭhira to deviate from the 

path of virtue and break his word? He gave his blessings to the Pāṇḍavas 

with tears in his eyes and told them that they would again get back their 

kingdom, and the Kurus would all be destroyed. Thus the Pāṇḍavas with 

their beloved wife entered a deep forest and they were lost to the outside 

world. They lived for twelve years in various forests and had many 

adventures. At last the dreaded thirteenth year came, and they entered the 

services of the king of Virāṭa in various capacities. The thirteenth year was 

passed by the Pāṇḍavas unrecognized. It is needless to say that the wicked 

Duryodhana moved heaven and earth to discover them, for they would go to 
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exile again for twelve years. So that he could be able to enjoy the kingdom 

without any hindrance from any quarter. But though he tried his utmost, yet 

he could not find them. Then Droṇācārya advised him for peace and unity 

with the mighty sons of Pāṇḍu. 

Then Bhīṣma, conversant with the Vedas, acquainted with the properties of 

time and place and possessing knowledge of every duty of morality, after 

conclusion of Droṇācārya’s speech, applauded the words of the preceptor 

and spoke unto the Kuru princes for their benefit. 

But Duryodhana and his wicked brothers and counsellors were not the men 

to listen to reason. They intentionally slighted Bhīṣma, Droṇācārya, 

Kṛpācārya and Vidura’s words. He determined to search out the Pāṇḍavas 

and to send them again into exile for another thirteen years. Hearing some 

rumour that the Pāṇḍavas were likely hiding themselves in King Virāṭa’s 

kingdom, he resolved to attack. When attacked, King Virāṭa went out to give 

battle to the Kurus and the four Pāṇḍavas except Arjuna went with him. 

Everything therefore, that the Pāṇḍavas had promised had been exactly 

fulfilled by them. Then the battle was started. Arjuna single handed defeated 

them all. After returning victorious from the battle, the Pāṇḍavas found no 

more necessity to remain any longer in disguise. When King Virāṭa knew 

who they were, he welcomes them with all the honour befitting to the great 

Pāṇḍavas. King Virāṭa asked Arjuna to marry his son Abhimanyu with 

Uttarā, King Virāṭa’s daughter. He agreed to. When the marriage of 

Abhimanyu and Uttarā was settled, invitations to different kings were 

issued. When the marriage was solemnized, the assembled kings consulted 

about what the Pāṇḍavas should do to get back their parental kingdom. It 

was settled to send an envoy to the Kurus and to ask for the kingdom; and if 

they refused, then to prepare for war. King Drupada’s chief priest Sañjaya 

went to the Kurus as the messenger of the Pāṇḍavas. Bhīṣma welcomed him 
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with due respect. He delivered the message of the Pāṇḍavas. Duryodhana, on 

being told by Karṇa, denied to give them their share in the parental kingdom 

and conveyed the message to get ready for the battle. Bhīṣma wanted to 

bring peace amongst them and thus advised Duryodhana. He did not listen to 

the advice given by Bhīṣma. He and his brothers, backed by Karṇa and 

Śakunī, were solemnly resolved to fight, to die or to win. 

Thus war was determined upon. Their parents, king Dhṛtarāṣtra and queen 

Gāndhārī tried their utmost to dissuade their wicked sons, but failed. There 

was absolutely no chance any longer for peace. Both parties prepared for 

war and invited their respective friends, relatives, kings and potentates to 

their aid. After consulting different counsellors, Duryodhana decided to 

induce grandfather Bhīṣma as the commander-in-chief of the Kaurava army. 

Bhīṣma unwillingly assumed the chief command of the Kaurava army, 

because he was bound by his solemn vow. He never dreamt that his vow 

would produce such disastrous results and he would have to fight with his 

most beloved Pāṇḍavas. 

He was then over hundred years of age, but still he was full of vigour and 

youthful energy. He was still the greatest general and warrior of the Aryan 

Land. He was true to his solemn vow, that knowing full well the unrighteous 

nature of the Kauravas, he, with sad and sore heart, was obliged to fight and 

that too with the Pāṇḍavas. Bhīṣma then described the various warriors of 

the Kaurava and Pāṇḍava armies. 

IV.VI In the Mahābhārata War 

Bhīṣma is the one who witnessed the Mahābhārata completely from the 

beginning since the rule of Śāntanu. In the great battle at Kurukṣetra, 

Bhīṣma being the commander-in-chief of the Kaurava forces fought for ten 

days compared to Droṇa's five, Karṇa's two and Śalya's one-the last day. He 
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fought reluctantly on the side of the Kauravas; nevertheless, he gave it his 

best effort. At one stage, Arjuna's disinclination to fight him nearly made 

Kṛṣṇa to break his vow not to raise a weapon in the war. Not even Arjuna 

was able to defeat Bhīṣma because in addition to being a peerless warrior he 

was blessed with choosing the moment of his death. 

In this war, Bhīṣma vowed not to kill any of the Pāṇḍavas, as he loved them, 

being their grandfather. Duryodhana often confronted Bhīṣma alleging that 

he was not actually fighting for the Kaurava camp as he would not kill any 

Pāṇḍava but would let them kill Kauravas. But in fact, Bhīṣma was the 

strongest barrier that had protected the Kaurava camp from impending 

defeat. 

The war was thus locked in a stalemate. As the Pāṇḍavas mulled over this 

situation, Kṛṣṇa advised them to visit Bhīṣma himself and request him to 

suggest a way out of this stalemate. Bhīṣma knew in his heart that the 

Pāṇḍavas were righteous and chaste, and that he stood as the greatest 

obstacle in their path to victory, so when they visited Bhīṣma, he told them 

that if faced by a woman in battle he would cease to fight and not lift 

weapons against her. 

The Pāṇḍavas were initially not agreeable to such a ploy, as by bringing a 

woman to the battleground they would disgrace themselves, but Kṛṣṇa 

suggested a clever alternative. And thus, on the next day - the tenth day of 

battle - Śikhaṇdī accompanied Arjuna on the latter's chariot and they faced 

Bhīṣma who put his bow and arrows down. He was then felled in battle by a 

reluctant, ashamed and tearful Arjuna pierced by innumerable arrows. As 

Bhīṣma fell, his whole body was held above the ground by the shafts of 

Arjuna's arrows which protruded from his back, and through his arms and 

legs. Seeing Bhīṣma laid on such a bed of arrows humbled even the gods 

who watched from the heavens in reverence, silently blessing the mighty 
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warrior. 

Bhīṣma was succeeded by Droṇa as the Commander-in-Chief. Bhīṣma lay 

on the 'bed of arrows' till the end of the battle, bound by his vows and chose 

to die only after learning that the Pāṇḍavas had won. One of his last acts was 

to impart his final instructions on administration and kingcraft to 

Yudhiṣthira. 

Bhīṣma took an arrow presented to him by Paraśurāma and aimed it at 

Śrīkṛṣṇa’s forehead. It struck Lord Kṛṣṇa deep in the forehead. When 

Śrīkṛṣṇa pulled it out blood gushed in fountains and his whole body was 

drenched in blood. Śrīkṛṣṇa becomes wild like Rudra when he sets out to 

destroy the worlds. He jumped from the chariot holding the Sudarśana- 

Chakra in his hand and crying, “I shall kill Bhīṣma!” He had vowed not to 

touch his Chakra, but the oath was now forgotten. Bhīṣma was not disturbed, 

but on the other hand he was filled with joy. In fact his own wish had been 

fulfilled; for, he had vowed that he would make Śrīkṛṣṇa take up his Chakra. 

Bhīṣma jumped down from his chariot and threw down his bow and arrows. 

He praised Śrīkṛṣṇa. 

With folded hands he said, “Lord, I am a child before you; should you look 

for my shortcomings? I am your devotee; should you be angry with me? I 

shall be happy if you kill me, for then I shall go to heaven. Come, my Lord." 

Śrīkṛṣṇa was pleased with his devotion. He withdrew his Chakra and 

returned to the chariot of Arjuna. Thus Bhīṣma's vows had all been fulfilled. 

IV.VII Fall of Bhīṣma 

So the war raged for nine days. Bhīṣma played havoc in the ranks of the 

Pāṇḍavas. They suffered heavily, and lost all hopes of success. Yudhiṣthira 
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was utterly desperate and took the advice of Śrīkṛṣṇa. Śrīkṛṣṇa said that the 

only way to success was to seek the guidance of Bhīṣma himself. 

That night Kṛṣṇa took Yudhiṣthira to Bhīṣma secretly. Yudhiṣthira fell at the 

feet of Bhīṣma. He said, "Grandfather, we are your grandchildren. We 

cannot overcome you not even the gods can do it. We cannot count how 

many men we have lost. I beg of you, grant us victory." 

Kṛṣṇa added his voice to Yudhiṣthiras prayers. He said, "Sir, both the 

Kauravas and the Pāṇḍavas are your grandchildren. You brought up the 

Pāṇḍavas. They are just and virtuous. They kept their promise. But 

Duryodhana did not give them back their kingdom. So it is your duty to 

protect them." 

Bhīṣma knew very well that Sri Kṛṣṇa was partial to the Pāṇḍavas. The 

Kauravas were wicked men, they were unjust, and Kṛṣṇa would surely slay 

them. It was true that Bhīṣma was with the Kauravas; but it was only his 

body and not his heart that was with them. He had lived in Duryodhana's 

court. So it was his duty to fight for him. But the Pāṇḍavas had been just and 

virtuous, and so his heart was with them. It was right that he should help 

them. So he said, "My son, Duryodhana was doomed when he brushed aside 

Kṛṣṇa's advice; your victory was assured. Place Śikhaṇḍī before me and I 

shall throw down my bow and arrows. I shall not fight." 

Bhīṣma knew that Śikhaṇḍī was none other than Ambā whom he had refused 

to marry. She wanted vengeance. She meditated on Lord Shiva; she wanted 

a boon that she would kill Bhīṣma. Lord Shiva granted her the boon; she was 

born again to kill Bhīṣma. Bhīṣma refused to consider Śikhaṇḍī as a man and 

would not fight with him. 

IV.VIII Bhīṣma on the Bed of Arrows  
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The battle of the tenth day raged in greater fierceness. Bhīṣma was a terror to 

the enemies. Arjuna faced him and a terrible fight followed. As the fight 

progressed, Śikhaṇḍī appeared before Bhīṣma ready with weapons to fight 

with him. At once Bhīṣma threw down his bow and arrows. Arjuna's arrows 

had already weakened him. He fell to the ground. But his body did not touch 

the ground. Arjuna's arrows had formed a bed for him. Bhīṣma thanked 

Arjuna for having given him a hero's bed of piercing arrows. He said, “I 

want a pillow! Give me a pillow of arrows!" Arjuna raised the old warrior's 

head and shot arrows piercing the ground. 

Bhīṣma's head rested on them. By then Duryodhana, Karṇa, Kṛpa and other 

leaders of the Kaurava army raced to the spot where Bhīṣma lay. 

Yudhiṣthira, Bhīma and others too stood near him. Bhīṣma was thirsty and 

asked for water to Arjuna.  

Duryodhana asked his men to bring water. Bhīṣma smiled even in his pain 

and said to him, "My son, the water I seek is not the water you offer. He then 

looked at Arjuna. Arjuna understood his mind. He sent an arrow which 

pierced deep into the ground; crystal-clear waters shot up in fountains and 

fell straight into the open mouth of Bhīṣma. The stream of water welling up 

from the ground was none other than Mother Gaṅgā coming in the steam 

form to quench the thirst of her beloved son Bhīṣma. He felt the living 

presence of his mother and even while lying on the bed of arrows felt that he 

was resting on the lap of his mother. 

Yudhiṣthira was crowned. He went with Sri Kṛṣṇa to pay his respects to 

Bhīṣma and seek his blessings. Bhīma, Arjuna, Nakula, Sahadeva and 

Draupadī were all there. They touched his feet and he blessed them. His last 

words of advice to Yudhiṣthira were: "Protect Dharma. Punish the wicked. 

Do not give up Truth. Give up egoism. Rule in the interests of the subjects. 
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May you all prosper!" 

IV.IX Passing Away of Bhīṣma 

As the Kauravas were losing the battle, Duryodhana approached Bhīṣma one 

night and accused him of not fighting the battle to his full strength because 

of his affection for the Pāṇḍavas. Bhīṣma, greatly angered, immediately he 

picked up five golden arrows and chanted mantras declaring, "tomorrow I 

will kill the Pāṇḍavas with these five golden arrows". Duryodhana, not 

having faith in Bhīṣma's words, asked Bhīṣma to give him custody of the 

five imbued golden arrows saying that he would keep them with him and 

return them the next morning. 

As Bhīṣma was about to kill Arjuna with his arrows Lord Kṛṣṇa could not 

tolerate his devotees plight and He immediately threw down the chariot reins 

and jumped off the chariot onto the battlefield, lifted a chariot wheel and 

charged Bhīṣma, determined to send Bhīṣma to Death's abode. 

It is believed that Bhīṣma died after the age of 350 years. The relation 

between Bhīṣma and Pāṇḍavas/Kauravas is described as that of a 

grandfather. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


